SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY DOCKET NO.:

049

IN RE: ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON PROFESSIONAL ETHICS OPINION 745 FILED
APR -3 2024
(Yeither & Bale)
CLERK

PETITION IN SUPPORT OF A REVIEW OF ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON PROFESSIONAL ETHICS OPINION 745

BLUME, FORTE, FRIED, ZERRES & MOLINARI A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ONE MAIN STREET CHATHAM, NEW JERSEY 07928 (973) 635-5400

Of Counsel:Carol L. Forte, Esq. (NJ Attorney ID No.: 025521984)
Michael B. Zerres, Esq. (NJ Attorney ID No.: 010351988)
John E. Molinari, Esq. (NJ Attorney ID No.: 023571986)
Mitchell J. Makowicz, Esq. (NJ Attorney ID No.: 028621986)
Jeffrey J. Zenna, Esq. (NJ Attorney ID No.: 004661992)

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED
QUESTION PRESENTED
ERRORS COMPLAINED OF
LEGAL ARGUMENT4
Point I: OPINION 745 MUST BE REVERSED, AS IT IS BASED UPON FUNDAMENTALLY INACCURATE PREMESES (Pa1-Pa6)5
Point A: The Payment of a Referral Fee Is Wholly Separate and Distinct From a Division of Legal Fees Between Multiple Attorneys Working On a Case (Pal-Pa6)
Point B: Opinion 745 Misapplies Payment of Referral Fees When a "Conflict" Is Presented (Pa1-Pa6)
Point II: OPINION 745 CONTRADICTS AND DEVALUES OUR SUPREME COURT'S RECOGNITION OF CERTIFIED ATTORNEYS TO THE DETRIMENT OF THE PUBLIC (Pa1-Pa6)
Point III: OPINION 745 PROMOTES PROCEDURAL INEFFICIENCY AND INSTABILITY, RESULTING IN ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES TO THE LITIGANTS AND PRACTITIONERS IN THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY (Pal-Pa6)
Point A: The Impact of Opinion 745 is Anti-Commerce and Isolates New Jersey Practitioners As Outliers Compared to Other States' Referral Fee Models (Pa1-Pa6)
Point B: Procedural and Logistical Nightmares Are Created By Opinion 745, Endangering New Jersey Litigants' Rights (Pal-Pa6)
CONCLUSION 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASE LAW

Appell v. Reiner, 81 N.J. 229, 241 (Ch. Div. 1963), rev'd on other grounds, 43
N.J. 313 (1964)
<u>DeBolt v. Parker</u> , 234 N.J. Super. 471 (Law Div. 1988)
Escalante v. Twp. of Cinnaminson, 283 N.J. Super. 244 (App. Div. 1995) 18
Goldberger, Seligsohn & Shinrod, P.A. v. Baumgarten, 378 N.J. Super. 244 (App. Div. 2005)
<u>Hartsfield v. Fantini</u> , 149 N.J. 611 (1997)
Hyman Zamft & Manard L.L.C. v. Cornell, 309 N.J. Super. 586 (App. Div. 1998)
<u>In re Application of LiVolsi</u> , 85 N.J. 576, 585 (1981)
<u>In re Armorer</u> , 153 N.J. 358 (1998)
<u>In re Hyderally</u> , 208 N.J. 453 (2011)
In re Supreme Court Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics Op. No. 697, 188 N.J. 549 (2006)
Ohlweiler v. Twp. of Chatham, 290 N.J. Super. 399 (App. Div. 1996)
O'Neill v. City of Newark, 304 N.J. Super. 543 (App. Div. 1997)
Stack v. P.G. Garage, Inc., 7 N.J. 118 (1951)
Weiner & Mazzei P.C. v. The Sattiraju Law Firm P.C., No. A-1079-14 (App. Div. May 25, 2016)
COURT RULES
Rule 1:19

Rule 1:39
RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
<u>RPC</u> 1.5
<u>RPC</u> 1.7
<u>RPC</u> 5.5
TREATISES
Pressler & Verniero, <u>Current N.J. Court Rules</u> , Note on <u>R.</u> 1:39-6 (2024) 2
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics, Op. 304 (1975)
Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics, Op. 613 (1988)
Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics, Op. 629 (1989)
Comm. on the Unauthorized Prac. of Law, Op. 49 (2012)
Comm. on the Unauthorized Prac. of Law, Op. 60 (2022)
Conn. Bar Ass'n Standing Comm. on Pro. Ethics, Informal Op. 20-02 (2020)
Conn. Bar Ass'n Standing Comm. on Pro. Ethics, Informal Op. 91-7 (1991) 16
Conn. Bar Ass'n Standing Comm. on Pro. Ethics, Informal Op. 92-09 (1992)
<u>Phila. Bar Ass'n Pro. Guidance Comm.</u> , Op. 93-15 (1993)
<u>Phila. Bar Ass'n Pro. Guidance Comm.</u> , Op. 90-139 (1990)

TABLE OF APPENDIX

JUDGMENTS, ORDERS AND RULINGS UNDER REVIEW PURSUANT TO RULE 2:6-1(a)(1)(C)

Advisory Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745, Published on March 12, 2024
NOTICE OF PETITION PURSUANT TO RULE 2:6-1(a)(1)(F)
Notice of Petition for Review of Advisor Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745, dated March 26, 2024
Cover Letter Notice of Petition for Review of Advisor Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745, dated March 26, 2024
Notice of Petition for Review of Advisor Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745, dated March 26, 2024
Certification of Service for Notice of Petition for Review of Advisor Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745, dated March 26, 2024
Certification of Terrence J. Hull, Esq. for Notice of Petition for Review of Advisor Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745, dated March 26, 2024
Delivery Confirmations for Notice of Petition for Review of Advisor Committee on Professional Ethics Opinion 745 to the New Jersey Attorney General's Office and New Jersey Supreme Court Clerk's Office, dated March 27 and 28, 2024
<u>UNPUBLISHED OPINION</u> PURSUANT TO RULE 2:6-1(a)(H) and RULE 1:36-3
In Weiner & Mazzei P.C. v. The Sattiraju Law Firm P.C., A-1079-14 (App. Div. May 25, 2016)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Pursuant to <u>Rule</u> 1:19-8, Petitioner, Blume, Forte, Fried, Zerres & Molinari, P.C., respectfully submits this Petition for Review of Opinion 745 of the Advisory Committee on Professional Ethics (hereinafter referred to as "Opinion 745" and the "ACPE," respectively). Opinion 745 needlessly ended New Jersey Certified Trial Attorneys' ability to pay referral fees to out-of-state referring attorneys, any attorneys with conflicts of interest or attorneys who do not maintain New Jersey trust accounts. While New Jersey Courts and practitioners will suffer as a result, it is the common litigants who are harmed most significantly, as their access to the most qualified and competent representation has been obscured. Petitioner is hindered from being able to best continue to serve our client base, and prospective clients, who typically are not sophisticated and do not have access to lawyers in their networks, requiring referrals to specialized representation.

Opinion 745 is structured upon a misunderstanding of the rudimentary difference between a referral fee paid for a referral alone pursuant to <u>Rule 1:39-6(d)</u>, versus a legal fee division under <u>RPC 1.5(e)</u> amongst multiple attorneys from different firms for actual legal work performed on a matter. The Opinion's holding will result in adverse consequences to New Jersey litigants, depriving the public of qualified representation, which Rule 1:39-6 was enacted to avoid.

The Opinion devalues the Certified Trial Attorney designation without any benefit to the New Jersey bar or litigants. It creates procedural and logistical pitfalls rather than curing any wrong or protecting against an ongoing or anticipated harm. Therefore, Petitioner respectfully requests its Petition for Review be granted, and Opinion 745 be reversed and nullified.

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED

In New Jersey, lawyers who achieve the designation of Certified Trial Attorney, pursuant to <u>Rule 1:39</u>, <u>et seq.</u>, are permitted to provide a referral fee to a referring attorney "without regard to services performed or responsibility assumed by the referring attorney[.]" <u>R. 1:39-6(d)</u>. This referral privilege is afforded to Certified Attorneys, and not permitted to non-certified lawyers, in recognition of Certified Attorneys' extensive "education, experience, knowledge, and skill for each designated area of practice[,]" as tested and regulated by our Supreme Court and the New Jersey Board on Attorney Certification. <u>See R. 1:39</u>; <u>see generally R. 1:39-1(d)</u>.

Subsection "d" of <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6 was adopted on November 1, 1985 and first became effective on January 2, 1986. Pressler & Verniero, <u>Current N.J. Court Rules</u>, Note on <u>R.</u> 1:39-6 (2024). While <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) has been amended twice since that time, in 1994 and 1996, its effect has remained unaltered and undisturbed since its inception. Ibid.

The Petitioner is a Professional Corporation comprised of 20 attorneys (15 attorneys and five attorneys of counsel), 11 of whom are Certified Civil Trial Attorneys. All attorneys are members of the New Jersey bar.

On March 12, 2024, the ACPE published Opinion 745, apparently in response to the attorney ethics research assistance hotline receiving "inquiries about out-of-state lawyers seeking payment of referral fees from New Jersey certified attorneys." See (Pa1). Opinion 745 additionally commented on requiring referral fees to be paid only to lawyers maintaining "New Jersey bank accounts to be eligible to practice law in New Jersey[,]" and not permitting referral fees when a referring attorney of any state cannot represent a client due to a conflict of interest. See (Pa3-Pa4).

Ultimately, Opinion 745 held that:

[C]ertified lawyers may not pay referral fees to out-of-state lawyers unless those out-of-state lawyers are licensed and eligible to practice law in New Jersey. In addition, certified lawyers may not pay referral fees to a lawyer who cannot handle a matter due to a conflict of interest, though they may pay referral fees to lawyers who referred a case when they were eligible to practice but were suspended or disbarred at the time the case resolved and the referral fee was payable.

[See (Pa5-Pa6)].

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the ACPE err in concluding that Certified Attorneys may not pay referral fees to out-of-state lawyers, New Jersey lawyers who cannot accept a case or must withdraw from a case due to a conflict of interest and New Jersey lawyers who do not have a New Jersey business/trust bank account?

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF

Petitioner respectfully submits that Opinion 745 is based upon a fundamentally inaccurate premise, contradicting and confusing the basic distinctions between referral fees under Rule 1:39-6(d) and the division of participation fees for legal services rendered under RPC 1.5. To that end, Opinion 745 is devoid of support and extends far beyond the scope of the initiating inquiry to which it responded. Additionally, the Opinion misconstrues the purpose of our Supreme Court's recognition of Certified Attorneys under Rule 1:39, et seq., promoting procedural inefficiencies and instabilities which will result in a deleterious effect on the citizens of New Jersey, New Jersey bar and professional interests of New Jersey practitioners.

It is unclear what problem Opinion 745 was issued to solve, as any benefit is completely obscured, but what is evident is the overwhelmingly unfair, prejudicial and illogical impact by which the public will suffer, should Opinion 745 not be reversed and nullified.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to its "plenary, exclusive, and almost unchallenged power over the practice of law," this Court reviews ethics questions *de novo*. <u>In re</u>

Application of LiVolsi, 85 N.J. 576, 585 (1981); see also In re Supreme Court Advisory Comm. On Pro. Ethics Op. No. 697 (In re Op. 697), 188 N.J. 549, 554 (2006).

I. Opinion 745 Must Be Reversed, As It Is Based Upon Fundamentally Inaccurate Premises (Pa1-Pa6).

Opinion 745 is flawed in all aspects, primarily regarding its failure to recognize the fundamental difference between the division of legal fees, where two lawyers from different firms are actively working on a case, and the payment of a referral fee by a Certified Attorney under Rule 1:39-6(d). It is further flawed in its misapplication of any perceived "conflict" issues, inappropriately extending the scope of Opinion 745's holding well beyond its purpose.

A. The Payment of a Referral Fee Is Wholly Separate and Distinct From a Division of Legal Fees Between Multiple Attorneys Working On a Case (Pa1-Pa6).

Opinion 745 states, "[a]s a referral fee is considered payment for legal services rendered in the case (not in proportion to actual services rendered), the lawyer to whom the fee is payable must be eligible to practice New Jersey law."

See (Pa3). A referral fee from a Certified Attorney pursuant to Rule 1:39-6(d) is not payment for legal services rendered in the case, but for the referral alone. A referral fee by a Certified Attorney is therefore not on the basis of the legal services rendered, but rather is strictly on the basis of the referral in and of itself.

R. 1:39-6(d); see also Goldberger, Seligsohn & Shinrod, P.A. v. Baumgarten,

378 N.J. Super. 244, 251 (App. Div. 2005) (distinguishing between referral fees and fees for services provided, holding that payment of "referral fees" on the sole basis of a referral under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) has "no application" to a fee-sharing arrangement or payment for legal services actually provided).

It is the inherent nature of a Rule 1:39-6(d) referral itself, not the services that are being rendered by the referring attorney, that is the dividing line. When addressing the division of fees in a circumstance in which two lawyers are actively working on the same matter, RPC 1.5(e) (division of fees) does not address an out-of-state attorney. In Weiner & Mazzei P.C. v. The Sattiraju Law Firm P.C., A-1079-14 (App. Div. May 25, 2016) (slip op. at 5-6), the Appellate Division indicated that while Rule 1:39-6(d) abrogated some of the requirements of RPC 1.5(e), it did not abrogate other requirements, being the reasonableness of the fee and consent from the client. See (Pa7-Pa9). Nowhere does RPC 1.5 indicate that a referring attorney must be a New Jersey attorney, or "eligible to practice" law in New Jersey as Opinion 745 misstates, in order for a Certified Attorney pursuant to Rule 1:39-6(d) to be able to pay a referral fee. In point of fact, Rule 1:39-6(d) is silent on the issue.

The aforementioned quotation from Opinion 745 has no basis or support in Rule 1:39-6(d) or RPC 1.5. Moreover, there is no basis or support in the Court Rules or Rules of Professional Conduct that "the lawyer to whom the fee

is payable must be eligible to practice New Jersey law." See (Pa3). The case law cited in Opinion 745 is completely inapposite to the situation at hand. In Stack v. P.G. Garage, Inc., 7 N.J. 118 (1951), a non-lawyer attempted to obtain payment for legal services rendered in a matter. Opinion 745 additionally cites Appell v. Reiner, 81 N.J. 229, 241 (Ch. Div. 1963), rev'd on other grounds, 43 N.J. 313 (1964), in which an out-of-state lawyer who practiced law in New Jersey was not entitled to receive a fee because it was the unauthorized practice of law. Similarly, in In re Armorer, 153 N.J. 358 (1998), a lawyer was seeking to recover a fee for legal services rendered while she was ineligible to practice law in New Jersey. None of Opinion 745's citations relate to referral fees, but instead to the division of fees for services provided. The foregoing decisions, involving non-attorneys and unauthorized or ineligible legal practice, are distinctly different from an out-of-state attorney receiving a referral fee.

It is important to contextualize payment of referral fees and payment of fees for "cross-border practice" or when there is unauthorized practice of law, which Opinion 745 conflates throughout its decision. See Comm. on the Unauthorized Prac. of Law, Op. 49 (2012) (delineating permissions afforded to out-of-state lawyers engaging in the actual practice of New Jersey law, under RPC 5.5); Comm. on the Unauthorized Prac. of Law, Op. 60 (2022) (providing procedural registration guidance for out-of-state lawyers). The point of the

matter is that the out-of-state lawyer who is referring a case to a Certified New Jersey Attorney is *not practicing law* in New Jersey.

The confusion between the division of a participation fee between two lawyers who work on a case and a referral fee is best seen in Opinion 745, wherein it stated, "[a]n out-of-state lawyer is not permitted to receive a referral fee of a New Jersey case unless the out-of-state lawyer is licensed and eligible to practice in New Jersey." See (Pa3). Again, as is evident throughout Opinion 745, for this all-encompassing statement, there is no authority provided. Apparently, the basis for the Opinion's assertion is the fact that New Jersey lawyers must have New Jersey bank accounts in accordance with the Rules to be eligible to practice law in New Jersey, but that assumes that *legal services* are being rendered by the out-of-state attorney *in New Jersey*. Making a recommendation to a litigant that he or she would be best served by having the matter referred to a New Jersey Certified Attorney is not the practice of law.

The blurred distinction between the division of fees for work that was actually performed, and a referral fee by a Certified Attorney, is apparent throughout Opinion 745 and vitiates its conclusions.

B. Opinion 745 Misapplies Payment of Referral Fees When a "Conflict" Is Presented (Pal-Pa6).

Opinion 745 broadly states that:

New Jersey lawyers who cannot undertake a New Jersey case, or who must withdraw from a case, due to a conflict of interest often refer the matter to a certified lawyer. Certified lawyers may not pay referral fees in these circumstances since the referring lawyers are not able to, or are no longer able to, provide legal services in that case.

[See (Pa4)].

Not only is there no authority cited in support of this position, but it also goes well beyond the scope of, and has no bearing on, the inciting inquiry upon which Opinion 745 is premised, i.e., referral fees for out-of-state lawyers.

The Opinion cites to <u>DeBolt v. Parker</u>, 234 N.J. Super. 471 (Law Div. 1988), <u>Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics</u>, Op. 613 (1988), <u>Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics</u>, Op. 629 (1989) and <u>Advisory Comm. on Pro. Ethics</u>, Op. 304 (1975) in support of its holding that conflicted attorneys cannot receive referral fees. <u>See</u> (Pa4). Each decision/opinion is readily distinguishable from the derived conclusion, in that they focus specifically on attorneys receiving fees for legal services provided in a matter wherein the attorney subsequently withdrew due to a conflict. *None* of those holdings have anything to do with a referral fee. Opinion 745's reliance on these decisions/opinions further highlights the failure to recognize the fundamental difference between referral fees from Certified Attorneys and participation fees earned for legal services rendered. These are separate from each other, and conflicts of any nature do not impact a fee provided solely for a referral.

The Opinion ignores that most conflicts are waivable, regardless of strategy moving forward. The general rule regarding conflicts of interest is clear: "a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest." RPC 1.7(a). Clients can waive the conflict in writing, based on informed consent after full disclosure. RPC 1.7(b). In most instances when a conflict arises, the Certified Attorney is the one making strategical decisions in relation to same, thereby eliminating the conflict issues of the referring attorney. Potential "conflict" scenarios arise often, including, but not limited to when: there are multiple plaintiffs and a limited policy; a parent and child are represented and there is a crossclaim against the parent; the attorney previously represented the defendant in a prior case, or; a driver and passenger are represented in a rear-end collision. Permitting the conflicted attorney to refer a litigant to a Certified Attorney is in the best interest of the litigant and provides an assurance to the referring attorney that the client is going to receive competent representation based upon an informed recommendation.

The ACPE and our Supreme Court have commented on conflict representation on many occasions in the past, consistently recognizing that conflicts can be waived and the ultimate standard to abide by when confronted with same is for the attorney to ensure that any such conflict does not limit the lawyer's ability to provide independent advice or diligent and competent

representation. <u>See generally In re Op. 697</u>, 188 N.J. at 567-69. Opinion 745 encourages referring attorneys to simply withhold information that they have a conflict when referring a case, or worse, keep the case despite the conflict. Neither scenario benefits the public.

II. Opinion 745 Contradicts and Devalues Our Supreme Court's Recognition of Certified Attorneys to the Detriment of the Public (Pa1-Pa6).

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