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

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

THE ACPE CORRECTLY INTERPRETED <u>RULE</u> 1:39-6(d). (Addressing NJSBA's Point I, ABOTA & TANJ's Argument, BLUME's Point I.A., and NJAJ's Point I).

According to Petitioners, <u>Opinion 745</u> misinterprets the plain language of <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) and conflates paying a referral fee under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) with dividing a legal fee under RPC 1.5(e). (ABOTAb3-15; BLUMEb5-8; NJAJb4-13; NJSBAb6-15). In Petitioners' view, referral fees are not fees for the performance of legal services governed by RPC 1.5(e). <u>Ibid.</u> Rather, referral fees are compensation only for the referral itself and not for any legal service rendered by the referring attorney. <u>Ibid.</u> But Petitioners ignore the similarity

in language about the division of legal fees between Rule 1:39-6(d) and RCP 1.5(e), which forms the basis for the ACPE's analysis in Opinion 745.

New Jersey courts "apply the same canons of construction to a court rule" that they apply to statutes. Cadre v. Proassurance Cas. Co., 468 N.J. Super. 246, 263 (App. Div. 2021). The analysis starts with the plain language of the rules and gives words their ordinary meaning. Ibid.; see also Wiese v. Dedhia, 188 N.J. 587, 592 (2006); Robertelli v. N.J. Off. of Att'y Ethics, 224 N.J. 470, 484 (2016) (citing Bridgewater-Raritan Educ. Ass'n v. Bd. of Educ. of Bridgewater-Raritan Sch. Dist., 221 N.J. 349, 361 (2015)). Courts also "read the language of a rule 'in context with related provisions so as to give sense to the [court rules] as a whole." Robertelli, 224 N.J. at 484 (alteration in original) (quoting Wiese, 188 N.J. at 592). And "if the text of the rules is ambiguous, [courts] can turn to extrinsic evidence . . . for guidance." Ibid. (citing Cast Art Indus., LLC v. KPMG LLP, 209 N.J. 208, 222 (2012)).

Rule 1:39-6(d) provides that:

a certified attorney who receives a case referral from a lawyer who is not a partner in or associate of that attorney's firm may **divide a fee for legal services** with the referring attorney or the referring attorney's estate. The fee division may be made without regard to services performed or responsibility assumed by the referring attorney

[emphasis added.]

The plain language of this rule clearly characterizes the referral as a "fee for legal services." This language indisputably mirrors the language in RCP 1:5(e), which states:

> [e]xcept as otherwise provided by the Court Rules, a division of fee between lawyers who are not in the same firm may be made only if: (1) the division is in proportion to the services performed by each lawyer, or, by written agreement with the client, each lawyer assumes joint responsibility for the representation; and (2) the client is notified of the fee division; (3) the client consents to the participation of all lawyers involved; and (4) the total fee is reasonable. [emphasis added].

Importantly, Rule 1:39-6(d), as currently adopted, acts as an exemption from the fee-sharing requirements set forth in RPC 1.5(e), only eliminating the requirement that the "division of fee" be in proportion to the services performed or responsibility assumed by each lawyer. Opinion 694, 4 N.J.L. 1487 (July 17, 1995). Thus, the ACPE's interpretation of Rule 1:36-6(d) accords with the plain language of the rule and is clearly supported by a related provision—RCP 1.5(e).

Similarly, Blume's reliance on a non-precedential decision, Weiner & Mazzei, P.C. v. Sattiraju Law Firm, PC, 2016 N.J. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 1203 (App. Div. May 25, 2016), and on Goldberger, Seligsohn & Shinrod, P.A. v. Baumgarten, 378 N.J. Super. 244 (App. Div. 2005) is misplaced. Blume points

⁶ Blume cites to and includes a copy of this unpublished decision in its appendix. (BLUMEa20).

to <u>Weiner</u> and <u>Goldberger</u> to argue that referral fees under <u>Rule</u> 1:36-(d) "are distinct from participation fee division agreements, and that out-of-state attorneys are entitled to such referral fees." (BLUMEb5-6; BLUMEb17). Blume misreads those decisions.

In <u>Weiner</u>, the court reviewed a referral fee dispute under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d). <u>Ibid.</u> The court analyzed the referral fee agreement as a fee sharing agreement subject to the requirements of RPC 1:5(e), and noted that a "fee sharing agreement between attorneys that does not satisfy the requirements of R.P.C. 1:5(e) is not enforceable." <u>Id.</u> at *4-5 (citing <u>Goldberger</u>, 378 N.J. Super. at 252). Because the referral fee dispute arose under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d), the court noted that while <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) abrogates some requirements of RPC 1.5(e)(1), it does not remove the remaining requirements of consent and reasonableness under RPC 1.5(e)(2) and (3). <u>Id.</u> at *5-6. Thus, <u>Weiner</u> actually supports the ACPE's analysis in Opinion 745.

As for <u>Goldberger</u>, 378 N.J. Super. at 251-52, the matter is distinguishable from the circumstances contemplated by <u>Opinion 745</u>. In <u>Goldberger</u>, the plaintiff, who was a lawyer representing the child of a decedent sued the defendant, another lawyer who represented the decedent's estate in a wrongful death action. <u>Id.</u> at 246-50. The plaintiff alleged, among other things, that the defendant breached a fee-sharing agreement contract. Ibid. Under the fee-

sharing agreement, the plaintiff was to receive twenty-five percent of the fee earned in the wrongful death action. <u>Ibid.</u> The defendant argued that the feesharing agreement contravened RPC 1:5(e) because it was not in writing, did not divide fees in proportion to work performed, and the client never consented to the joint representation. <u>Id.</u> at 247. Agreeing with the defendant, the court found that the plaintiff was not entitled to relief on the breach of contract claim because the fee-sharing agreement failed to conform to the requirements of RPC 1.5(e). <u>Id.</u> at 251-52. The court further noted that the "rules pertaining to the payment of referral fees ha[d] no application to this dispute" because the Plaintiff did not seek a fee on the basis of a referral, but rather on joint work performed on behalf of their clients. <u>Ibid.</u> <u>Goldberger</u> neither addresses referrals under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) nor pertains to certified trial attorneys. Thus, it has no bearing on the ACPE's analysis of <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d).

Finally, the ACPE's conclusion that under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) certified attorneys may only pay referral fees to attorneys eligible to practice law in New Jersey neither violates the plain language of the rule nor defies the canons of statutory construction. Petitioners are correct that <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) does not contain any qualifiers on the type of referring attorney, such as specifying that the referring attorney means "New Jersey attorney" or "out-of-state" attorney. (ABOTAb13; NJSBAb8-10). But to the extent this lack of specificity causes

ambiguity, this Court can consider related provisions and extrinsic evidence for interpretive guidance. <u>Robertelli</u>, 224 N.J. at 484.

As noted above, the ACPE considered related provisions to interpret the limits of Rule 1:39-6(d) and its opinion flowed from its interpretation of a referral fee as a legal fee, exactly as it was guided to do so through the plain language used in Rule 1:39-6(d). Because a referral fee is a legal fee under Rule 1:39-6(d), the same restrictions that apply to payments of legal fees also apply to referral fees in this context. Thus, under Rule 1:39-6(d), a certified attorney may only pay a referral fee to an attorney eligible to practice law in New Jersey. See, e.g., Stack v. P.G. Garage, Inc., 7 N.J. 118, 120, 123 (1951) (non-lawyer suit to obtain fee for legal services dismissed because unauthorized practice of law is illegal); In re Armorer, 153 N.J. 358 (1998) (New Jersey lawyers cannot recover fee for services rendered while ineligible to practice law); Slimm v. Yates, 236 N.J. Super. 558, 564 (Super. Ct. 1989) ("Recovery of compensation for legal services by one not authorized to practice law will not be permitted by our courts.") (citing Appell v. Reiner, 81 N.J. Super. 229, 239 (Ch. Div. 1963), rev'd on other grounds 43 N.J. 313 (1964)).

The NJSBA correctly points out that there is no statute or rule that defines what constitutes the unauthorized practice of law. (NJSBAb12); see also N.J. Const. art. VI, § II, ¶ 3; In re Op. No. 24 of Comm. on Unauthorized Practice Of

Law, 128 N.J. 114, 122 (1992). But there are established guidelines which instruct that "[t]he practice of law is unauthorized when conducted by persons not licensed to practice in New Jersey or not specially admitted under our court rules." Johnson, 468 N.J. Super. at 581 (citing In re Jackman, 165 N.J. 580, 585-86 (2000)); see also R. 1:21-1(a) (qualifications for practice of law in New Jersey); R. 1:21-2 (pro hac vic admissions); R. 1:21-3 (requirements for law students and graduates to practice law in New Jersey). "The unauthorized practice of law may be committed by both laypersons and out-of-state attorneys." Johnson, 468 N.J. Super. at 582. Importantly, these rules are grounded in the State's fundamental interests to protect the public and to assure "the proper, orderly, and efficient administration of justice in New Jersey." In re Jackman, 165 N.J. 589, 585 (2000).

Moreover, <u>Opinion 745</u> is not contrary to the guidance issued by the Committee on the Unauthorized Practice of Law (UPL Committee) in December 2022, concerning multijurisdictional practice under the New Jersey RPCs. <u>See UPL Committee Opinion 60</u>, "<u>Multijurisdictional Practice Under Rule of Professional Conduct 5.5(b)(3)(iv) as Applied to Out-of-State Lawyers Who Provide Legal Services in New Jersey Court Cases" (Dec. 19, 2022). In <u>Opinion 60</u>, the UPL Committee found that "out-of-state lawyers who participate in New Jersey court cases under the direct supervision of an admitted lawyer, or who</u>

consult with admitted counsel on specialized issues, need not register as a multijurisdictional practitioner" under RPC 5.5(b)(3). As the NJSBA and NJAJ correctly state (NJSBAb3-14; NJAJb11), the UPL Committee further explained that "[o]ut-of-state lawyers who provide lower-level assistance, such as researching legal issues . . . under the direct supervision of an admitted attorney need not register" under RPC 5.5(b)(3). <u>Ibid.</u> (emphasis added). But in those circumstances, the UPL Committee noted that while those out-of-state attorneys may be practicing New Jersey law, those attorneys are not generally considered to be engaged in the unauthorized practice of law because they are being supervised by attorney's admitted in New Jersey.

The ACPE also recognizes, as the NJSBA and NJAJ notes, that the UPL Committee advised that an out-of-state attorney who "merely consults with an admitted lawyer on specialized legal issues need not register as a multijurisdictional practitioner." <u>Ibid.</u> But consulting on a specialized area of law is not the same thing as referring a case to another lawyer. And significantly, <u>Opinion 60</u> is silent on the narrow question answered by the ACPE in <u>Opinion 745—</u>whether a New Jersey certified attorney can pay referral fees to out-of-state attorneys. As discussed above, because a referral fee is deemed a legal fee for purposes of <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d), out-of-state lawyers must be eligible to practice law in New Jersey, such as holding a plenary license or obtaining pro

hac vice admission in order to be paid a referral fee from a New Jersey certified attorney.

Thus, the ACPE's interpretation of a referral fee as a "legal fee" is consistent with the plain language of <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) and RPC 1.5(e), and its analysis in <u>Opinion 745</u> should be upheld.

POINT II

THE ACPE CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT A CERTIFIED ATTORNEY CANNOT PAY REFERRAL FEES TO LAWYERS WHO HAVE A CONFLICT OF INTEREST AT THE TIME OF A REFERRAL. (Addressing Blume's Point I.B.)

The ACPE correctly concluded that certified attorneys may not pay referral fees to lawyers who cannot represent a party at the time of referral due to a conflict of interest because referral fees are the same as legal fees under Rule 1:39-6(d). (ABOTAa4-5). Permitting otherwise would be paramount to allowing the conflicted lawyer to collect legal fees for services that the conflicted lawyer could not ethically render.

Blume argues this guidance is wrong, but its argument simply disagrees with the basic proposition that referral fees are legal fees. (BLUMEb8-11). Blume also argues that the ACPE ignored that "most conflicts are waivable" and claims that Opinion 745 encourages referring attorneys to withhold information

as to a conflict or to keep a case despite a conflict. <u>Ibid.</u> Blume's arguments are unavailing.

With regard to Blume's first argument, this issue is addressed in Point I above. The plain language of <u>Rule 1:39-6(d)</u> refers to the referral fee as a "legal fee," which supports the ACPE's analysis in Opinion 745.

As to its second argument, the ACPE concedes that some conflicts may be waivable. See RPC 1.7(b); RPC 1.8; RPC 1.9; RPC 1.10. But the ability to waive or cure a conflict is not dispositive of whether an attorney, who has a known conflict at the time of making a referral, should be permitted to profit from that referral in the form of legal fees. The ACPE has previously issued guidance about whether a lawyer, who is unable to represent a party due to a conflict of interest or due to a suspension or disbarment, is entitled to payment for legal services rendered, including referral fees. See, e.g., ACPE Opinion 304, "Conflict of Interest – Multiple Parties Fees Upon Withdrawal," 98 N.J.L.J. 449 (1975); ACPE Opinion 613, "Withdrawing Attorney Claiming Referral Fee <u>Under Rule 1:39-6(d)</u>," 121 N.J.L.J. 1037 (1988). While the ACPE has found that a lawyer can be paid for legal services provided in good faith before a conflict arises, it also found that a referring attorney compelled to withdraw from a case due to a conflict can no longer participate in the case and thus, is precluded from receiving a referral fee under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d) because the attorney may not profit through that referral. <u>Opinion 613</u>.

Additionally, this premise is consistent with the reasoning in <u>Eichen</u>, <u>Levinson & Crutchlow</u>, <u>LLP v. Weiner</u>, which held that lawyers who were in good standing and eligible to practice law in New Jersey at the time of the referral, but who were later suspended or disbarred, could still receive referral fees. 397 N.J. Super. 588, 594-95 (App. Div. 2008); <u>see also ACPE Opinion</u> <u>273</u>, "<u>Fee Sharing – Forwarding Attorney Suspended</u>," 96 N.J.L. 1421 (Dec. 13, 1973) ("The subsequent disbarment of [a] referring attorney is immaterial if the referral was made before disbarment and if the disbarment was not caused by the manner by which the referring attorney obtained the case.").

Moreover, nothing in <u>Opinion 745</u> prevents a conflicted attorney from referring the case to a certified attorney under <u>Rule</u> 1:39-6(d). <u>Opinion 745</u> merely precludes a referring attorney from profiting from that conflict. And Blume's suggestion that <u>Opinion 745</u> encourages referring attorneys to withhold information or keep the case despite a conflict seems to fly in the face of the RPCs, which serve to "guide attorneys and the courts with regard to proper conduct . . . [and] 'set forth the minimum standard of competence governing the profession.'" <u>Meisel v. Fox Rothschild LLP</u>, 240 N.J. 286, 299 (2020). Indeed, while conflicts in certain circumstances are waivable, the RPCs require, among

other things, informed consent from each affected client in order to do so. See RPC 1.7(b)(1); RPC 1.8(a)(3); RPC 1.9(a). Attorneys in New Jersey must also be able to provide competent and diligent representation. See RPC 1.1; RPC 1.3; RPC 1.7(b)(2). Thus, allowing attorneys to withhold information about a conflict to obtain a referral fee or to keep a case, despite their prior knowledge of a conflict, would violate those duties and violate the public's trust in the legal profession.

POINT III

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